**ORIGINAL**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2012-CP-23-2080

RECEIVED

APR 05 2013

SC Court of Appeals

---

South Carolina Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2012-212893

Edward J. Rivera and Michele L. Rivera,

Appellants

vs.

BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P.

Respondent

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

Bridget D. Swing, SC Bar No. 13616  
Foreclosure Defense Law Firm, LLC  
PO Box 8246  
Greenville, SC 29604  
Tel & Fax: (864) 551-4353  
Attorney for Appellants

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERR IN RULING THAT WHETHER OR NOT STANDING TO SUE IS TANTAMOUNT TO SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION NEED NOT BE CONSIDERED WHEN RULING ON APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS AND RESPONDENTS MOTION TO DISMISS?
  
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANTS LACK OF STANDING ARGUMENT FAILED?
  
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANTS' ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA AND GRANTING RESPONDENT'S RULE 12(b)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2004, Appellants made, executed and delivered to Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. a certain Note (the "Note") in the amount of \$116,519.00. *Note (R. pp.42-43)*. On that same date, to wit November 10, 2004, Appellants made, executed and delivered to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as nominee for Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., its successors and assigns, a certain Mortgage (the "Mortgage") encumbering real property known as 110 Confederate Circle Taylors, South Carolina 29687 ("real property"). *Mortgage (R. pp.45-51)*. Subsequently, Respondent filed a Complaint for foreclosure on August 20, 2009. *Foreclosure Complaint (R. pp.27-32)*. The Foreclosure Complaint alleged subject matter jurisdiction in paragraph 6 of the Foreclosure Complaint by alleging "[o]n December 7, 2004, said Mortgage was recorded in the Greenville County Registry in Mortgage Book 4281 at page 962. Thereafter the Mortgage was assigned to the Plaintiff herein." *Foreclosure Complaint, para 6 (R. p.28)*.

A Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale (the "Foreclosure Judgment"), was signed by Master-in-Equity Charles B. Simmons, Jr. on September 3, 2010, and filed on September 7, 2010. *Judgment of Foreclosure (R. pp.1-20)*. The Foreclosure Judgment states that "[b]y Assignment of Mortgage dated August 27, 2009, and recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds/RMC Office for Greenville County in Book 5054 at page 1908 on September 1, 2009, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as nominee for Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. assigned the subject note and mortgage to BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. f/k/a Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, L.P. *By virtue of said assignment, the Plaintiff in this action is the owner and holder of the note and*

mortgage.” *Judgment of Foreclosure (emphasis added) (R. p. 2)* . A judicial sale of the property was held on October 4, 2010 with Respondents being the successful bidder at the foreclosure sale. Appellants remain living in the home as their primary and only residence.

Subsequently, the instant action was filed by Appellants on March 23, 2012 seeking a quiet title action to restore title to the real property to Appellants. Appellants Quiet Title Action contains two causes of action and seeks restoration of title to Appellants based on Respondents lack of standing to bring the underlying prior foreclosure action. *Complaint (R. pp.33-69)*. Thereafter, on or about April 11, 2012, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss Appellants Complaint. *Motion to Dismiss Complaint (R. pp. 83-84)*. On May 3, 2012, Appellants filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. *Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. pp.88-100)*. A hearing was held to hear both motions by the Circuit Court Judge on May 29, 2012. At said hearing, Respondents filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Dismiss and in Opposition to Appellants Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. *Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss and in Opposition to Appellants Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. pp.85-87)*. With leave of the Court, Appellants filed its Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. *Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. pp.101-108)*. Subsequently, on August 8, 2012, the Circuit Court Judge, Honorable D. Garrison Hill, entered and filed an Order granting Respondents Motion to Dismiss and Denying the Plaintiff’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. *August 8, 2012 Order (R. pp.21-24)*.

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals on September 6, 2012 in response to the Circuit Court Judge's Order. *September 6 Notice of Appeal (R. pp.117)*. Appellants are now filing their Initial Brief dated January 15, 2013, with the Court of Appeals.

### ARGUMENTS

#### I. UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW, STANDING TO SUE IS A SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE THAT DETERMINES A COURT'S ABILITY TO HEAR A CASE IN CONTROVERSY AND IS AN ISSUE THAT CAN NEVER BE WAIVED

At issue in this matter is whether Appellant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings should be granted and title to the real property at issue in this matter be returned to Plaintiff. In order to decide this issue, it is the Appellants contention that the lower court must determine whether the original judgment of foreclosure on the real property at issue is void and a nullity based on the fact that Respondent lacked the authority, standing, and thus subject matter jurisdiction to bring the original foreclosure action. Appellants' argue that when viewed in the light most favorable to the Respondent, the pleadings clearly establish that Respondent did not have standing to bring the original foreclosure complaint and thus lacked subject matter jurisdiction to enforce the underlying note and mortgage. As such, the foreclosure judgment is void and title to the real property should be returned to Appellants as sought in Appellants Complaint.

Issues of standing and lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived, even by consent, and can be taken notice of by the court on its own motion *Fielden v. Fielden*, 274 S.C. 219, 269 S.E.2d 43 (1980). *Harden v. S.C. Highway Dept.*, 266 S.C. 119, 124, 221 S.E. 2d 851, 853 (1976). *State v. Gorie*, 256 S.C. 539, 183 S.E.2d 334 (1971),

*Hunter v. Boyd*, 203 S.C. 518, 28 S.E.2d 412 (1943). Subject matter jurisdiction has been interpreted by South Carolina Courts to mean “a court’s constitutional or statutory power to adjudicate a case” *Johnson v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole, and Pardon Servs.*, 372 SC 279, 284, 641 S.E. 2d 895, 897 (2007). Whether or not a party has standing to bring an action before a South Carolina court is a subject matter jurisdictional issue that goes to a court’s ability to hear a case or controversy. *Lennon v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 330 S.C. 414, 498 SE 2d 906 (Ct.App. 1998). “No justiciable controversy is presented unless the plaintiff has standing to maintain the action.” *Brock v. Bennett*, 313 S.C. 513, 519, 443 S.E. 2d 409, 413 (Ct.App. 1994). “A plaintiff must allege an actual controversy in which he has a personal stake.” *Energy Research Found. V. Waddell*, 295 S.C. 100, 102, 367 S.E.2d 419, 420 (1988). *If a court acts without subject matter jurisdiction, its judgments are void and from its inception the judgment is a complete nullity and without legal effect.* *Thomas & Howard Company, Inc. v. T.W. Graham and Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 281, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995)(emphasis added); *South Carolina Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Holtzclaw*, 675 S.E. 2d 756 (S.C.Ct. App. 2009); *Fryer v. South Carolina Law Enforcement Div.* , 631 S.E. 2d 918 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006). The law is well settled that when a court has no authority to act, its acts are void. *Russell v. Bea Staple Mfg. Co.*, 266 N.C. 531, 146 S.E.2d 459 (1966); *Davis v. Page*, 125 S.E.2d 60 (Ga.1962); *Cruikshank v. Duffield*, 138 W.Va. 726, 77 S.E.2d 600 (1953).

In the case at bar, the Circuit Court Judge ruled that “a determination as to whether or not standing to sue is tantamount to subject matter jurisdiction is not necessary in considering the motion before me.” *Order (R. p.22)*. Appellants, however, would respectfully disagree with the Circuit Judge’s holding. In support of their position,

Appellants contend that since standing is a component of subject matter jurisdiction, and since an Order executed without subject matter jurisdiction is void and a nullity, a determination as to whether the Respondent's lacked standing to obtain the original Foreclosure Order is crucial in the lower court's analysis of the two motions at issue in this matter.

II. BECAUSE APPELLANTS' ALLEGATIONS THAT RESPONDENT'S LACKED STANDING TO BRING THE ORIGINAL FORECLOSURE COMPLAINT WERE NOT BASED ON THE DATE THE MORTGAGE ASSIGNMENT WAS FILED, THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE'S ORDER MUST BE OVERTURNED.

In his Order, the Circuit Court Judge states:

[P]laintiffs allege that the Defendant did not have standing to bring the foreclosure action because the filing of an Assignment of Note and Mortgage into BAC Home loans Servicing, L.P. f/k/a Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, L.P. occurred after the filing of the foreclosure action and, as such, the Defendant did not own the Note and Mortgage until after it filed its foreclosure action. *Order (R. p.22)*

Appellants respectfully disagree with this finding. Appellant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and the oral arguments presented by Appellants at the May 29, 2012 hearing clearly show that this was not the Appellants argument. Rather, the Appellant argued that Respondent lacked standing and thus lacked subject matter jurisdiction to bring the underlying foreclosure action because: 1) the authority to enforce a promissory note via foreclosure of the mortgage associated with said promissory note is found in Article 3 of the South Carolina Uniform Commercial Code, and Respondents failed to allege in its foreclosure complaint and the Foreclosure Judgment does not find that Respondent held the authority to foreclose; and 2) Respondents contention that it had standing to proceed was based on a mortgage assignment that was not even executed until after the original foreclosure complaint was filed.

In support of the above, Appellants would point this honorable court to the May 29<sup>th</sup> Transcript in which undersigned counsel argued that the underlying foreclosure complaint:

Alleges that it [Respondent] was the holder of the mortgage and note by virtue of the mortgage assignment. It did not allege that it was the holder of the note by virtue of holding the note. In order to negotiate a note in South Carolina, you have to follow the rules of the UCC as set forth in South Carolina. And an assignment of the note by virtue of its mortgage assignment and note does not create a holder status. They did not allege that in the complaint, nor did they prove it. .... Their entire argument was based on the mortgage assignment, which was not signed and recorded until after the complaint. And until that mortgage assignment is executed or until they are able to establish that they were the actual holder of the note, they had no subject matter jurisdiction. *May 29, 2012 Transcript (emphasis added) (R. p. 76, lines 10-19; 25; p. 77, line 1-6).*

Further, Appellants Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings does not argue lack of standing due to the date the Assignment was recorded, rather the motion argues that "the Assignment of Note and Mortgage, through which Defendant claimed to have an interest in the foreclosure action, was not executed until August 27, 2009, and was not filed with the Greenville County Registry of until September 2, 2009. *Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (R. p. 89).*

The Appellant agrees with the Circuit Court Judge's Order that the filing of an assignment of mortgage of public record serves only to put the world at large on record of said assignment and does not have any bearing on the date of transfer of a negotiable instrument. *Order (R. p. 22).* This, however, was not the Appellants argument and the Appellant respectfully urges this court to vacate the Order or remand this issue for further consideration of the arguments put forth by Appellants.

III. BECAUSE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IS AN ISSUE THAT CAN NEVER BE WAIVED AND BECAUSE THE PUBLIC POLICY BEHIND FINDING THE ORIGINAL FORECLOSURE ORDER A NULLITY BASED ON

LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OUTWEIGHS THE POLICIES BEHIND THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA, THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE CASE AT BAR AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS SCRPC RULE 12(b) (6) MOTION TO DISMISS.

The Circuit Court's August 8, 2012 Order grants Defendant's Rule 12(b) (6) Motion based on its finding that Plaintiff's action is barred by the doctrine of res judicata. For the reasons set forth above and as more fully outlined herein below, Appellants disagree with said finding and respectfully request that the granting of Respondents 12(b)(6) Motion be reversed.

Under Rule 12(b) (6), SCRPC, a defendant may bring a motion to dismiss based upon a plaintiff's failure to state a claim constituting a cause of action. *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 352 S.C. 221, 573 S.E. 2d 805 (Ct. App. 2002). A trial judge may dismiss the claim if the defendant demonstrates the plaintiff has failed "to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action" in the pleadings filed with the court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 232-233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 499 (Ct. App. 2001) (quoting *Rule 12(b) (6) SCRPC*). When considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the trial court must base its ruling solely upon the allegations made on the fact of the complaint. *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E. 2d 601 (1995). If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged on the complaint would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper. *Brown v. Leverette*, 291 S.C. 364, 353 S.E.2d 697 (1987); *McCormick v. England*, 328 S.C. 627, 494 S.E.2d 431 (Ct.App.1997). The facts and inferences alleged on the complaint are viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. *Brown v. Leverette*, 291 S.C. 364, 353

S.E.2d 697 (1987); McCormick v. England, 328 S.C. 627, 494 S.E.2d 431 (Ct.App.1997).

In determining whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief. Bergstrom, 352 S.C. at 233, 573 S.E.2d at 811.

In the instant case, the circuit court improperly used the doctrine of res judicata when granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Removing any barriers to Appellants claims under the theory of res judicata, and when viewing Appellant's claims in a light most favorable to Appellant, Respondent's Motion to Dismiss should not have been granted by the circuit court.

Res Judicata bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transactions or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties." Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 172, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (2011). To establish res judicata, a defendant must prove three elements: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit. Sealy v. Dodge, 289 S.C. 543, 347 S.E.2d 504 (1986); Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills USA, 336 S.C. 533, 537, 520 S.E.2d 815, 817 (1994); Owenby v. Owens Corning Fiberglas, 313 S.C. 181, 437 S.E.2d 130 (Ct.App.1993). "Our courts, however, have found that the doctrine of *res judicata* is not an "ironclad" bar to a later lawsuit." Garris v. Governing Bd. Of the South Carolina Reinsurance Facility, 333 S.C. 432, 449, 511 S.E. 2d 48, 57 (1998). Further, even when the defendant meets all of the required elements, res judicata will not be applied "where it will contravene other important public policies; the courts must weigh the competing public policies. Johns v. Johns, 309 S.C. 199, 203, 420 S.E.2d

856, 859 (Ct.App.1992). "Res judicata is the branch of the law that defines the effect a *valid* judgment may have on subsequent litigation between the same parties and their privies." James F. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 642 (2d ed.1996) (emphasis added).

In *Johns*, an alleged common-law wife appealed a family court order which ruled that no common-law marriage existed. The parties in *Johns* began residing together while the respondent was still married to a third party. The respondent obtained a divorce from the third party in 1988 and in 1989 the parties in the alleged common-law marriage signed a consent order in which the court found they were married at common law and ordered that they were "legally separated". *Johns*, 309 S.C. 199, 201. The appellate court was asked to determine whether a common law marriage ever existed between the parties. In finding that a common law marriage never existed, the court ruled that res judicata shall not be applied to the earlier consent order which found that a common law marriage existed.

Although *res judicata* is based on sound public policy, it is not to be applied rigidly so as to defeat the ends of justice. *Beverly Beach Properties, Inc. v. Nelson*, 68 So.2d 604 (Fla.1953); 46 Am.Jur.2d *Judgments* § 402 (1969). Thus, application of *res judicata* will not be applied where it will contravene other important public policies; the courts must weigh the competing public policies. *Id.* The public policy underlying *res judicata* may have to yield to other public policies, even in consent orders. 47 Am.Jur.2d *Judgments* § 1090 (1969). Here, the public policy expressed in S.C.Code Ann. § 20-1-80 (1985) overrides the public policy of *res judicata*. Although the parties' consent order is not void, the marriage it affirms is void. In balancing the relevant public policies (i.e. the public policy of finality of judgments versus the public policy of not recognizing bigamous marriages) the consent order should not be given *res judicata* effect. Accordingly, we affirm the ruling of the court that *res judicata* does not bar this action. *Cf. Jennings v. Dargan*, 417 S.E.2d 646 (S.C. Ct.App.1992) (where two policies conflict, the court will give deference to the overriding policy). *Id.* at 203. *Johns*, 309 S.C. 199, 203, 420 S.E.2d 856, 859.

Similarly, in *Jennings v. Dargan*, 308 S.C. 317, 417 S.E.2d 646 (S.C. Ct. App. 1992), the Court held that an order approving a settlement regarding paternity and child support was void and thus did not have a preclusive effect against the child in her action for support because the record did not indicate the family court had complied with statutes requiring a finding that the settlement was in the best interest of the minor and requiring review and approval of the settlement. *Id.* 308 S.C. 317, 320–21. The court in *Jennings* acknowledged the policy respecting finality of judgments but stated that the policy expressed in the cited statutes (protecting minors) was the overriding concern. *Id.*

Similar to the *Johns* and *Jennings* cases, res judicata should not be applied to the case as bar as there are other important public policy concerns that outweigh the public policy of res judicata. As this court is aware, South Carolina as well as the nation at large has been through a well-publicized foreclosure crisis in which many of America's largest lenders and loan servicers (including the Respondent) were allegedly involved in a widespread epidemic of improper foreclosures in which foreclosures were often times pushed through the courts without the proper evidence needed to establish a lender's right to foreclosure or with fraudulently executed documents or affidavits signed by individuals who have since admitted that they executed the affidavits without reviewing the validity or the accuracy of the sworn affidavits, so called "robo-signers". As a result of these alleged improper practices, the federal government along with forty-eight states, including South Carolina, reached a settlement agreement to address mortgage servicing and foreclosure abuses. An informational website developed by the state Attorney General offices on the executive committee that negotiated the settlement can be found at <http://www.nationalmortgagesettlement.com>. Respondent is part of this joint settlement