THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2012-CP-23-2080

South Carolina Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2012-212893

Edward J. Rivera and Michele L. Rivera

APPELLANTS,

v.

BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P.

RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Genevieve S. Johnson
SC Bar No. 78480
Butler & Hosch
1201 Main Street, Suite 1110
Columbia, SC 29201
Tel: (803) 252-7370
Fax: (803) 771-7768
Attorney for Respondent

Chad Burgess
SC Bar No. 72520
Brock and Scott
3800 Fernandina Road, Suite 110
Columbia SC 29210
Tel: (803) 454-3540
Fax: (803) 454-3521
Attorney for Respondent

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

In *Bardoon Properties*, Bardoon leased office space to Eidolon Corporation in January of 1992. *Id.* at 168, 372. Bardoon went into foreclosure and in June of 1992, Provident purchased the property at foreclosure sale. *Id.* In March, 1993, Eidolon vacated the premises and subsequently Bardoon brought suit against Eidolon for breach of lease in August of 1993. *Id.* Eidolon failed to answer in a timely fashion and was held in default. *Bardoon Properties*, 326 S.C. at 168, 485 S.E. 2d at 372. Subsequently, Eidolon filed a motion to set aside default, which was denied and damages were awarded to Bardoon. *Id.* Eidolon filed a motion to reconsider, which was also denied. *Id.*

“On appeal, the Court of Appeals held Eidolon had waived any challenge to Bardoon’s status as real party in interest by failing to object prior to entry of default. Eidolon sought rehearing, claiming the issue was one of subject matter jurisdiction such that it could be raised at any time” and The South Carolina Supreme Court granted certiorari. *Id.*

The right of a plaintiff to maintain a suit, while frequently treated as going to the question of jurisdiction, goes, in reality to the right of the plaintiff to relief rather than to the jurisdiction of the court to afford it. 21 C.J.S. Courts § 16 (1990). A challenge to a party’s status as real party in interest must be made promptly or the court may conclude the point has been waived. 6A Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller and Mary Kay Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure*, § 1554, pp. 406–407 (1990) (hereinafter, Wright, Miller and Kane). See also *Gogolin & Stelter v. Karn's Auto Imports, Inc.* 886 F.2d 100, 102 (5th Cir.1989), cert. denied 494 U.S. 1031, 110 S.Ct. 1480, 108 L.Ed.2d 617(defendant waived defense that plaintiff was not real party in interest by

failing to timely raise issue); *Hefley v. Jones*, 687 F.2d 1383, 1388 (10th Cir.1982) (real party in interest defense is for defendant's benefit and is waived if not timely raised); *Fox v. McGrath*, 152 F.2d 616, 618–619 (2nd Cir.1945), *cert. denied*, 327 U.S. 806, 66 S.Ct. 966, 90 L.Ed. 1030 (since real party in interest rule is for defendants' protection, it is not jurisdictional and is freely waivable); *Bielski v. Zorn*, 627 N.E.2d 880 (Ind.1994) (if action is brought by other than real party in interest, remedy is not dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction). *Bardoon Properties*, 326 S.C. at 169-70, 485 S.E. 2d at 373.

Accordingly, the Supreme Court held that standing does not involve subject matter jurisdiction and the Court of Appeals correctly held that Eldon's assertion of lack of standing, having not been timely raised prior to the entry of default, was waived. *Id.* at 373-74, 171-72.

In emphasizing the difference between standing and subject matter jurisdiction, the Supreme Court in *Bardoon Properties* cites the Indiana case of *Bielski v. Zorn*. *Bardoon Properties*, 326 S.C. at 170, 485 S.E. 2d at 373. In *Bielski*, the court held standing is not a question of subject matter jurisdiction. *Bielski v. Zorn*, 627 N.E.2d 880, 888 (Ind. Tax Ct.1994). The court goes on to make clear that standing is a judicial creation used to determine whether the complaining party is the correct person to invoke the court's power. *Id.*

Despite the wealth of authority holding that standing is not a part of subject matter jurisdiction, the Appellant attempts to use *Lennon v. South Carolina Coastal Council* to reach a different conclusion. The Appellant states “[w]hether or not a party has standing to bring an action before a South Carolina court is a subject matter jurisdictional issue that goes to the court's ability to hear a case or controversy” and cites *Lennon* for this proposition. *Appellants Initial Brief* p. 4. The Respondent must respectfully disagree with this interpretation as such a statement or idea is not to be found anywhere within the case.

In *Lennon*, two business partners bought lots on Folly Beach in 1985. *Id.* at 415, 906. Several years later, in 1993, they applied for permits to build on their lots. *Id.* The council ultimately issued the permits and Lennon, joined by the neighboring property owner of the disputed lots, filed a summons and complaint requesting judicial review of the council's decision; thereafter, the circuit court affirmed the decision and Lennon appealed. *Id.* Lennon alleged he was a pro-se litigant acting on behalf of several neighbors of the adjoining lots. *Lennon* 330 S.C. at 415, 498 S.E.2d at 906. Lennon owned no adjoining property and suffered no individual injury, and on these grounds it was determined he had no standing. *Lennon* 330 S.C. at 416, 498 S.E.2d at 907.

The Court draws a clear distinction between *Lennon* and *Bardoon Properties* by stressing the difference on how standing can be used when a case involves the realm of public law when governmental action is attacked on the grounds that it violates private rights. *Id.* at 415, 906. Several other elements of the standing doctrine are clearly unrelated to the proposition set forth in Rule 17(a). *Lennon* 330 S.C. at 417, 498 S.E.2d at 907.

Lennon involves a decision made by The South Carolina Coastal Counsel, which affects the rights of private individuals as to the use of their property. *Bardoon Properties* deals with the issue of standing and real party in interest as it relates to real property and foreclosure, which are the exact same issues in the case at bar. The South Carolina Supreme Court has gone through great lengths to distinguish standing from subject matter jurisdiction, thus making it clear that the two principals are mutually exclusive. Therefore, the Appellant cannot maintain an action based upon Rule 17(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a rule titled "real party in interest." 17(a), SCR.P.

Furthermore, the rule clearly states that even in the event that an action was not brought by the real party in interest “[n]o action shall be dismissed on the ground that it is not prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest until a reasonable time as been allowed, after objection, for ratification of the commencement of the action...” 17(a), SCR. Based upon the exact wording of the rule it is abundantly clear that a 17(a) objection can only be brought within the course of the action, not over a year later in a separate action, which is the situation with the case at bar.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE WAS CORRECT IN HIS DENIAL OF THE APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS, AS THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO MEET THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD AND THE RESPONDENT PRESENTED EVIDENCE OF ITS STANDING.

A. An Assignment of Mortgage is not indicative of the date of transfer of ownership or even necessary to establish ownership.

The granting of a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is a drastic measure and should be granted only where the pleadings are so defective that, even when taking the facts alleged as admitted, no cause of action or defense could be sustained. *Lydia v. Horton*, 343 S.C. 376, 540 S.E. 2d 102 (Ct. App. 2000). The Appellants’ basis for asserting that the Respondent lacks standing is based on the date of the assignment of mortgage. An assignment of mortgage of public record serves to put the world at large on notice of the transfer and is not indicative of the date of the transfer of a negotiable instrument. R. p. 22, lines 15-23. An assignment of a note and mortgage serves as evidence of a prior transfer and evidence of the party’s standing to enforce the note and mortgage. R. p. 22, lines 23-24. There is no law requiring that an assignment of mortgage be recorded. *Williams & co. v. Paysinger*, 15 S.C. 171, 174 (1881).

In *Talbert v. Talbert*, Farmer Bank denied the assignment of a note and mortgage to Ms. Talbert and contested her right to foreclosure. *Talbert v. Talbert*, 97. S.C. 136, 81 S.E. 644, 647 (1914). Ms. Talbert alleges that she paid valuable consideration for the mortgage and states that an assignment was executed, that the assignment of mortgage was not recorded, and that neither an original nor a copy could be found. *Id.* The court stated “[t]he complaint avers ‘that the plaintiff is now the legal owner and holder of said mortgage.’ The note is payable to bearer, and plaintiff stated he was the owner of the note, that inasmuch as he had possession of the note, which itself is prima facie evidence of ownership ... and was all that was necessary to sustain the action.” *Id.* at 136, 647.

In the present case, in further evidence of the Respondent’s standing to bring the action and as grounds to deny the Appellants’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, counsel for the respondent submitted to the Court a copy of the original Note, Mortgage and Assignment of Mortgage. R. pp. 85-87. Counsel had the original documents in his possession on behalf of his client. R. pp. 85-87. Said note is endorsed in blank and is in the possession of the Respondent. R. p. 75, lines 7-15. Similar to *Talbert v. Talbert*, the Respondent was in possession of the original note and mortgage, ownership was alleged in their complaint and the Master in Equity similarly found it was entitled to foreclose.

“The holder of an instrument whether or not he is the owner may transfer or negotiate it and ... discharge it or enforce payment in his own name.” S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 (2003). “A holder of a negotiable instrument is defined as ‘a person who is in possession of ... an instrument ... drawn, issued, or indorsed to him or his order or to bearer or in blank.’” *Kain v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon (In re Kain)*, Ch. 13 Case No. 08-08404-HB, Adv. No. 10-80047-HB, Adv. No. 10-80047-HB, slip op. at 7 (D. SC. Mar.

30, 2012). When an instrument is indorsed in blank, it becomes payable to the bearer and may be negotiated by delivery alone. *Id.* (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-204(b) (2003)). “Possession of a bearer instrument is prima facie evidence of ownership.” *Id.* (citing *In re Woodberry*, 383 B.R. 373, 377 (Bankr.D.S.C.2008)). Further, the possession that is required by Former Article 3, to constitute a person as a holder, may be the constructive possession achieved by delivering the instrument to one on his behalf. *In re Kain* at 7. Therefore, a person is the holder of an instrument when it is in the possession of his agent. *Id.* “If the underlying note is payable to bearer, then a separate assignment is not required; the possession of the note and mortgage is prima facie evidence of an assignment.” 5 S.C. Jur. Assignments § 37 (2012). The endorsement of a negotiable note secured by a mortgage and the delivery of the mortgage to the endorsee, without a written assignment, were held to constitute an assignment of mortgage. *Wright v Eaves*, 10 Rich.Eq. 582, 585, 31 S.C.Eq.582, 585 (1858).

Therefore, the Circuit Court Judge was correct in finding that the date of the assignment of mortgage was immaterial, that the Appellant did not meet the high standard to obtain a judgment on the pleadings, and in deciding that a determination of whether standing is tantamount to subject matter jurisdiction was unnecessary.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN RULING THE APPELLANTS ACTION IS BARRED BY THE PRINCIPALS OF RES JUDICATA AND PROPERLY GRANTED THE RESPONDENT’S 12(B) MOTION TO DISMISS.

The doctrine of res judicata bars a litigant from bringing an action with any issues that were adjudicated in a prior suit and any issues which might have been raised in a former suit. *Plum Creek Development Co., Inc v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 512 S.E. 2d 106 (1999). The doctrine of res judicata is comprised of three elements: 1) the parties

must be identical, 2) the subject matter must be identical, and 3) the subject issue must have been litigated in the former suit. *Id.* at 34, 109 “Res judicata is the branch of the law that defines the effect a valid judgment may have on subsequent litigation between the same parties and their privies. Res judicata ends litigation, promotes judicial economy and avoids the harassment of relitigation of the same issues.” *Id.* at 34,108 (citing J. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure* p. 642 (1996)).

The Respondent’s prior foreclosure action involved the same parties as the instant action and involved the same subject matter as the instant action (i.e., the bank’s standing to bring a foreclosure action as to the subject property), and that issue was ruled on in the previous action. R. p. 27-32 and pp. 1-8. Furthermore, the fact that the Respondent clearly meets all three elements of the doctrine of res judicata is not denied by the Appellants. *Initial Brief of Appellant*. Instead the Appellant attempts to incorrectly assert that res judicata should not apply to the instant action as it would contravene other important public policy. Appellants cite *Johns v Johns* for the proposition that although res judicata is based on sound public policy, it is not to be applied rigidly so as to defeat the ends of justice. *Johns*, 309 S.C. 199, 203, 420 S.E. 2d. 856, 859 (Ct. App. 1992). While true that res judicata should not be applied so rigidly as to contravene public policy, such would not be the case in the instant action. Both cases cited by the Appellants to support their proposition are family court cases. In *Johns* the court declines to apply res judicata and determines that a couple was not married under common law despite a previous court order, which ruled that a common law marriage existed. *Johns*, 309 S.C. at 203,420 S.E.2d at859. The court was willing to reach this conclusion because one party was already legally married during the period of cohabitation. *Id.* at

201, 857. Had the court ruled otherwise, it would have contravened the public policy against bigamous marriages.

Next the Appellants cite *Jennings v Dargan*, in which the court held a settlement regarding paternity and child support void. 308 S.C. 317, 318, 417 S.E. 2d 646 (Ct. App. 1992). “The court concluded that res judicata did not apply because the order entered in the earlier case was not a valid final order since the court at that time did not comply with the applicable statute and made no finding that the settlement was ‘a fair one, in the best interest of the minor, and it was not approved by [the court].’” *Id.* The Court of Appeals confirmed this decision and stated “where two policies conflict ... the more overriding concern is the protection of the interest of minors.” *Id.* at 321, 648. These two cases set forth two extremely important public policies recognized nationwide, the illegality of bigamous marriages and the importance of protecting minors. However, the Appellants fail to set forth any public policy relevant to the present action.

Instead, the Appellants talk generally about the wide spread foreclosure “epidemic” and robo-signing. *Appellants Initial Brief* p. 10. However, there have never been any allegations that there was anything improper relating to the execution of the mortgage or foreclosure at issue other than the claim that the Respondent lacked standing. Furthermore, the Appellants were given a full and fair opportunity to raise any such allegations in the previous action. The Appellants were served with the foreclosure action, and a notice of hearing was sent to the Appellants on 8/20/2010. Yet the Appellants declined to file a notice of appearance, an answer or attend the hearing. They further failed to file any motions to have the foreclosure judgment reconsidered and to date have still never alleged any behavior on the part of the Respondent that contravenes

any public policy. No additional evidence or information is referred to in the quiet title action that was not readily available at the time the foreclosure action was filed.

This case is the epitome of the exact scenario that the doctrine of res judicata seeks to avoid. The present action is so intertwined with the former foreclosure that it is impossible to separate the two. The Appellants entire action is a recitation of the facts and issues determined in the prior action in which new or additional facts, evidence, or issues are brought before the court. Therefore the Circuit Court Judge correctly determined res judicata barred the Appellants quiet title action and granted the Respondent's 12(b) Motion to Dismiss and decided that a determination of whether standing is tantamount to subject matter jurisdiction was unnecessary.

IV. EVEN IF THE RESPONDENT HAD LACKED STANDING IN THE FORECLOSURE ACTION, THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO SEEK THE PROPER RESOLUTION.

- A. The Appellants incorrectly claimed that the Respondent is not the real party in interest as set forth in Rule 17(a) and furthermore asked for the incorrect relief had there in fact been an issue under 17(a).

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